Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

8-5-2020 1:30 PM

Examining the Impact of Social Media on Youth Self-Perceived Mental Health

Chantal Singh, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Dr. Richard Booth, *The University of Western Ontario* Co-Supervisor: Dr. Kim Jackson, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Nursing © Chantal Singh 2020

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Recommended Citation

Singh, Chantal, "Examining the Impact of Social Media on Youth Self-Perceived Mental Health" (2020). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 7210. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/7210

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Abstract

Background: The development of social media has altered the lives of individuals worldwide enabling people to connect and share opinions, content, and even life milestones with one another. Further, the use of social media platforms has significantly increased over the past decade, particularly popular among youth. To date, it is estimated that 86% of Ontario youth use social media on a daily, and more than half of today's youth report utilizing social media platforms multiple times per day. With the rise of social media among youth, questions have begun to emerge whether the use of these communication technologies are associated with increasing mental health concerns.

Objectives: Two objectives were undertaken in this thesis: (1) completion of a scoping review; and, (2) presentation of a proposed study to explore the relationship between social media, and self-reported mental health among youth users.

Methods: A scoping literature review guided by the Arksey and O'Malley framework was used to complete a synthesis of relevant literature available on this topic. For the proposed study, a protocol and analysis plan to examine the secondary data arising from Cycle 27 of the Global Social Survey (Statistics Canada) is proposed. The Social-Ecological Model is presented as the theoretical framework to guide the proposed study.

Results: Among the twenty articles examined for the purpose of this scoping review, a total of seven articles met the predetermined inclusion criteria. The available literature was examined and a range of themes related to youth mental health and social media use were generated.

Conclusion: Understanding the implications of social media use on the mental health of the youth who use it is essential to improving and maintaining health and well-being of youth.

The results yielded from this literature review indicate that youth users may not fully understand the implications these new forms of technology have on their mental health and well-being. This proposed study provides further potential implications for policy development related to the use of social media, but also from a health literacy perspective related to youth, parents, and the general population in terms of social media use and mental health and well-being.

Keywords: Social media; social media use; youth; mental health; mental well-being

Summary for Lay Audience

The use of social media has revolutionized daily life. This technology has provided many opportunities to optimize care delivery within health and social systems, enhance communication, and reduce obstacles due to physical and geographical distance. For many of today's youth who have grown up in the technological age, they have never known a world without social media and the ability to share their thoughts, content, and experiences online. In fact, Ontario youth report that over 85% use social media on a daily basis (if not more often) (Centre for Addiction and Mental Health, 2015). Since the conception of social media just over a decade ago, there is no doubt it has dramatically transformed the way in which we interact with one another.

During the last 10 to 15 years the rates of youth mental illness in the province of Ontario (and across Canada) has also risen dramatically. In fact, youth presenting to emergency departments with mental health related concerns has risen over 35% (Gill et al, 2017). With over 80% of adulthood mental health disorders stemming from childhood (Children's Mental Health Ontario [CMHO], 2020), and 1 in 3 Canadians affected by mental health in their lifetime (Statistics Canada, 2019), it is imperative that factors that may affect the mental health of youth be further explored, including the use of social media in youths' daily lives.

This dissertation outlines the concepts of social media use and mental health as it relates to youth in Ontario, as well as current available literature in this area, and a proposed research project to further delve into this complex social and health issue.

iii

Co-Authorship Statement

This work was completed under the supervision of Dr. Richard Booth and Dr. Kim Jackson, who will be titled co-authors on all publications and presentations resulting from this dissertation.

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to Kathleen West and Kowsillia Maharaj. Two incredible women who embodied dedication, perseverance and incredible work ethic, and who taught me the importance of making an impact on the lives of others and the world around us.

Acknowledgements

I have so much gratitude for the many people who have supported me to complete this dissertation. Firstly, I would like to express my sincerest appreciation to Dr. Richard Booth and Dr. Kim Jackson my supervisors for your endless support in so many ways throughout the years. I feel so thankful to have been able to work with and learn from you. You believed in me and my capabilities even when I doubted them the most and although this project's end has not been how any of us could have predicted, your encouragement has been invaluable to this process and both my nursing career and future.

To my family and friends who have pushed me to be my best self and have been so understanding throughout this process despite the many challenges life has thrown my way, you have truly embodied my life motto of "*building each other up instead of tearing each other down*". To my nursing mentors-thank you for showing me what the true "essence" of nursing really is, on both sides of the bed-those I have worked with, and those who have cared for me over the years. You have made me the nurse I am today.

Of course, I owe the utmost thanks to my parents who have supported me endlessly along this journey and always encouraged me to chase my dreams no matter the distance. A big thank you to my brother Kiran as well for your patience and kindness. Finally, a special mention to Sandra and Ishwar Dean for fostering my love for education and perseverance from a young age.

Abstract	i
Summary for Lay Audience	iii
Co-Authorship Statement	iv
Dedication	v
Acknowledgements	vi
Table of Contents	vii
List of Tables	ix
List of Appendices	X
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
State of Mental Health	1
Mental Health	2
Social Media Utilization	3
Youth Mental Health	4
Theoretical Framework	6
The Social-Ecological Model	6
Social-Ecological Model in Social Media Use	8
Social-Ecological Model and Mental Health	9
Conclusion	10
References	11
Chapter 2: Literature Review	20
Introduction	20
Search Methods	23
Criteria for Considering Studies for Review	23
Search Strategy for identification of Studies	24
Data Extraction	25
Collating, Summarizing & Reporting of Results	25
Results	26
Study Design	26
Geographic Location	30
Patient Population	30

Table of Contents

Thematic Analysis of Outcome Measures	
Appropriate Use of Social Media	30
Networking	31
Health Implications	32
Limitations	32
Implications for Practice	33
References	35
Chapter 3: Research Protocol	41
Background and Information	41
Rationale and Objectives	42
Research Questions	43
Methods	43
Proposed Study Design	43
Ethical & Privacy Considerations	43
Data Source	44
Population Characteristics	46
Data Analysis	47
Limitations	48
COVID-19 Limitations	49
Conclusion	50
References	51
Chapter 4: Implications	53
Discussion of Implications	53
Implications for Theory	53
Implications for Practice	54
Implications for Future Research	55
Conclusion	55
References	57
Curriculum Vitae	66

List of Tables

Table 1- Table of Included Studies (Scoping Review)	27
Table 2- Table of Required Variables (General Social Survey Cycle 27)	45

List of Appendices

Appendix A- Search Strategy for Scoping Review	62
Appendix B- Prisma Flow Diagram for Scoping Review	63
Appendix C- List of Scoping Review Articles	64
Appendix D- SSHRC & RDC Approval Notice	65

Chapter One

Introduction

State of Mental Health

The mental health crisis in Ontario and nationwide continues to grow as individuals who struggle with mental health challenges commonly lack necessary supports, and the number of those suffering from mental health challenges continues to increase (Mental Health and Addictions Leadership Advisory Council, 2016). Currently, mental health related admissions to emergency departments alone account for more than 15% of total healthcare spending in Canada (Centre for Addiction and Mental Health [CAMH], 2015).

Although mental health supports have been identified as a gap within the current Canadian healthcare system for some time, service wait times in both emergency departments and community care both continue to climb (Gill et al., 2017). In an age where an already inundated healthcare system continues to experience a variety of budget cuts, those who are struggling are often not connected with adequate supports to cope with mental health challenges. Frequently, the resources offered to individuals suffering from mental health disorders are not timely nor easily accessible, causing these people to suffer in isolation (Public Health Agency of Canada [PHAC], 2015). Furthermore, there continues to be a great deal of stigma associated with mental health challenges, creating additional barriers for those who are in need of supports and services.

One cohort of the population that has been significantly impacted by mental health concerns is youth. It has been estimated that one in five youth experience mental health challenges, and over 70% of mental health disorders in adulthood stem from childhood (Ontario Ministry of Children and Youth Services, 2012). In 2016 over 25% of Ontario

students surveyed in grades 7 to 12 stated that they had unmet mental health care needs (Boak et al., 2016). With the current prevalence of mental health concerns in youth populations, it is of utmost importance that considerations which have implications on child and youth mental health be examined when considering care (Clinton et al., 2016).

Mental Health

Mental health is something that everyone possesses regardless of their age, race, or environment. It can be described as a "state of well-being in which an individual realizes his or her own abilities, can cope with the normal stresses of life, can work productively and is able to make a contribution to his or her community" (World Health Organization [WHO], 2013, para. 4). The idea of having *good mental health* or *mental wellness* depicts a somewhat coveted state of being where the individual is able to function to the best of their ability, work toward achieving their full potential, and experience emotions of happiness or being satisfied with their life (Vaillant, 2012).

The concept of mental health can be described as existing across a spectrum, from positive to negative (or good to poor), depending on the situation and challenges the individual faces. Those who struggle with mental health challenges (often referred to as having *poor mental health*) may find it difficult to carry out activities of daily life or reach their full potential with unmet mental health needs (Keyes, 2006). For instance, society has generated expectations of individuals to be productive members of their communities and factors which may impair this level of functioning (such as mental health challenges) are often regarded in a negative light (Galderisi et al., 2015).

With over 5 million Canadians requiring mental health supports on an annual basis (Statistics Canada, 2019) and Canadian youth suicide rate being the third highest in the

industrialized world (CAMH, 2020), it is imperative that youth mental health be examined to address concerns which could contribute to poor (or low levels of) mental health and well-being (Canadian Association of Paediatric Health Centres & The Provincial Centre of Excellence for Child and Youth Mental Health at CHEO, 2010; Ottawa Public Health, 2019). According to the World Health Organization "access to effective prevention and intervention during childhood and adolescence is essential to stemming the tide of chronic mental health disability into adulthood" (2020, para 2). Addressing these concerns in childhood and youth may have the ability to reduce subsequent burden on not only health systems, but also allow individuals to achieve their "potential to live fulfilling and productive lives" (WHO, 2020, para. 4).

Social Media Utilization

With over 90% of Canadians reporting use of the internet in the year 2018 (Statistics Canada, 2019), the integration of social media platforms into daily lives for routine communication has become habit for many (Chaffey, 2020). The wide-scale adoption of social media technology over the last 15 years has revolutionized how we connect with one another – providing the communication backbone for more timely and efficient communication in the moment, allowing users to share online content and media; and affording connectivity to people across globe to collaborate and engage with each other (Crone & Konijn, 2018).

Boyd and Ellison (2008) define the term *social media* as a "platform to create profiles, make explicit and traverse relationships" (p. 2). Many of the popular social media sites used today generally allow users to share media content online (i.e., videos, photos, music), including sites like *Instagram, YouTube, Facebook, Tumblr, Twitter,* and *Snapchat*. Social media allows users to cultivate relationships online with individuals they may have never met physically and share media and life moments with others through digital interaction (Osborne-Gowey, 2014). While being able to seamlessly share information and life experiences with others may bring benefits, this ability to communicate fluidly also creates new additional challenges (McBride, 2011).

Youth Mental Health

While the adoption rates of social media have been impressive, little is currently known in relation to this technology's influence upon general health or mental health and well-being (Kelly et al., 2018; Romer, et al., 2013). Youth users are a particularly unique cohort, as many in this demographic have been exposed to social media and use of the internet since extremely young ages. For instance, a recent media report in the United Kingdom surveying eighteen youth users in a longitudinal study over six years reported that almost all of the 12-15 year-olds surveyed reported using YouTube regularly, possess their own social media profile, and are permitted to take their phones with them to bed, unmonitored by their parents or guardians (Ofcom, 2019). With adolescent users likely engaging in online behaviours that their parents or guardians are unaware of, inappropriate content and behaviours cannot be monitored, and parents often lack the understanding and education needed to regulate safe social media use for their child(ren) (CMHA, 2015). A Czechoslovakian study of just over 1000 teenagers reported that half of teens surveyed reported they had experienced cyberbullying, and 9% reported they had either received or sent a sext (sexual text message) (Kopecký, 2016). Due to the endless bounds of the online world, this poses massive safety and privacy concerns for children and youth alike, as well as emotional implications (Brailovskaia & Margraf, 2018). As a cohort of the population

who are already at a vulnerable stage of their lives, youth present as a particularly high-risk group for mental health concerns, especially those potentially exacerbated by social media use (Canadian Mental Health Association [CMHA], 2015).

In recent years, the development and adoption of social media use has been linked to a variety of both positive and negative implications on health and well-being. From a positive perspective, increased use of social media has allowed youth an outlet for selfexpression, to develop their sense of self-identity, network with peers in a timely and interactive way, celebrate milestones, and support one another. It also allows for relationships to be maintained online that may not otherwise be possible due to physical distance and other restrictions (Royal Society for Public Health, 2017). In addition, there has also been some demonstration of social media being used as a tool to connect and support youth to one another during challenging situations (and thus have a subsequent positive impact on mental health) (Wong et. al, 2014).

However, while potential positive impacts exist, this relatively new technology still poses many unnavigated challenges to be addressed from a mental health perspective. With Facebook, Twitter, & Instagram all being used by one in four people worldwide (Whiteman, 2015), constant sharing of media and experiences may cause increased levels of anxiety including "fear of missing out" when they are not involved, and increased feelings of exclusion from friends and peers (Royal Society for Public Health, 2017). In addition, due to the sheer frequency of use and need to be connected with their peers, youth who use social media frequently also are at risk for decreased sleep and other health implications linked to sleeping challenges (Scott & Woods, 2018). The ability to share content which is predominantly photo and alternate media based has also been noted to have potential effects

on body image and development of self-identity (especially in female youth users) (Marengo et al., 2018). With the ability to share heavily edited (and unrealistic) content, these falsified lifestyles and perceptions are portrayed when users are seeking online validation. This creates unrealistic body image expectations for users, and in turn negative perceptions of self and mental health (Shensa et al., 2018).

Theoretical Framework

The Social-Ecological Model

The Social-Ecological Model is a framework which explores the context of an individual in the environment around them (Centres for Disease Control [CDC], 2020). This model examines how the behaviours of one person can be shaped and formed based on societal and environmental influences, as well as the influence of interpersonal relationships (Here to Help BC & BC Partners for Mental Health, 2020). While some variations of the model exist, the core tenets of the Social-Ecological Model consistently depict a multi-layered approach to understanding social and personal factors which affect individual behaviours (CDC, 2020).

Individual Level

The innermost circle of this model is described as the *Individual* or *Intrapersonal* Level, which encompasses the individual themselves – for instance, what skills they have, their knowledge and understanding, and their personal morals and values. This level may also encompass personal traits such as a person's motivation, self-identity, spirituality, and gender identity or sexual orientation (Max et al., 2015). In the context of youth social media and mental health, it represents the individual emotions and feelings of youth users, as well

as perhaps their own insecurities as they navigate the defining transition to adulthood through adolescence (Reupert, 2017).

Interpersonal Level

The second most inner level of this model represents the *Relationship* or *Interpersonal* level which represents the networks the individual is a part of such as family and friends, and coworkers (CDC, 2020; McLeroy et al., 1988). The central component of the interpersonal level reflects influence of these members on the individual's actions and behaviours. In particular, examining negative behaviours between individuals (such as violence and cyberbullying) aligns within this level of the model. Within a youth context, interactions between peer groups and romantic relationships or friendships are particularly important to this level, as well as support networks (Max et al., 2015).

Community Level

Moving outwards the next level of the model is the *Community* layer, which describes the institutions or groups at a more macro-level in which the individual exists and lives within. This level is often important to distinguish customs such as religious beliefs and cultural norms of society which are often determined by these community groups and structures (The Borgen Project, 2017).

Societal Level

Finally, the outermost level or the *Societal* level, encompasses the many societal constructs and behaviours which create the environment which the individual lives in. Larger societal factors which are considered here include health, the economy, and social inequities (CDC, 2020). Regulation of laws and policies also align with this level category (McLeroy et al., 1988).

The Social-Ecological Model has been utilized in various research activities since its conception in the 1970s, typically used help identify and address complex problems which are multi-leveled, exist within societal constructs, and possess individual/group behaviour levels (The Borgen Project, 2017). This framework has been particularly successful in examining and addressing problems such as health promotion initiatives and programs, violence prevention, adolescent pregnancy prevention, suicide prevention, and multiple other mental health related contexts (Here to Help BC & BC Partners for Mental Health, 2020; The Borgen Project, 2017).

Social-Ecological Model in Social Media Use

Examining how social media use is depicted through the Social-Ecological Model requires assessment all dimensions of the framework: (1) *Individual;* (2) *Interpersonal;* (3) *Community;* and, (4) *Societal.* Primarily, the *individual* dimension related to the use of social media has been proposed to be a strong factor in the individual's identity and sense of self (which includes frequency and habits of use, personal insecurities and perceptions, and both self-identity and self-esteem) (Max et al., 2015). The youth's personal values such as what they choose to share and post on social media platforms could also be considered here, as well as their feelings about how they are perceived (based on sexual orientation, gender identity, etc.)

From an *interpersonal* dimension, social media allows people to connect with others online) is a key component of understanding its' purpose. The use of common online platforms such as Snapchat, Instagram, and Facebook allow for people to connect with each other despite physical or geographical distance. These platforms also facilitate users to post a great deal of personal information and content, which can be shared to followers or other users. The response of users to an individual's post or how they connect with others online depends on their personal values, interpersonal factors, and societal norms which have shaped their current online practices (Holland et al., 2017).

When examining social media use from an *interpersonal* lens, it becomes clear that online interactions can have ripple effects beyond an individual's immediate family and communities due to their interconnectedness (Reupert, 2017). Communication skills which are developed throughout the lifespan (but especially during the teenage or adolescent years) are incorporated within all of these levels as the individual navigates communication between themselves and other individuals, in larger groups, and within their *community* and *society* (CDC, 2020). Therefore, social norms developed surrounding communication (CDC, 2020).

Social-Ecological Model and Mental Health

The Social-Ecological Model is also particularly fitting when examining youth social media use as it takes into account factors surrounding peer influence and involvement. This is an important consideration for youth populations who have been found to be highly influenced by friends and peer groups during their adolescent years (Max et al., 2015). With adolescence being a particularly difficult time for many youth (as they navigate the transition to becoming an adult from childhood), adolescents often struggle to develop a strong sense of self as they combat feelings of low self-esteem (Brailovskaia & Margraf, 2018). From a mental health perspective, the Social-Ecological Model considers the many

components of life can contribute to mental health challenges. In particular, when considering mental health as existing on a spectrum, this model helps to take into account the differing levels of influence that various individuals or groups may have upon a person and how they are influential (Galderisi et al., 2015). In this sense, mental health can be described as not the "absence of challenges but... our capacity to flourish and enjoy life but also cope with the challenges we face" (Here to Help BC & BC Partners for Mental Health, 2020, para. 6). With one in three Canadians reporting mental illness in their lifetime (Statistics Canada, 2018), and over 70% of adults reporting they utilize a social media account regularly (Pew Research Centre, 2018), social media should be addressed during years of childhood and adolescence to cultivate healthy use behaviours (CMHO, 2020).

Conclusion

With an increase in the prevalence of mental health disorders among youth across Ontario and Canada, further exploration of the relationships between youth mental health and social media use is warranted. By examining this topic from a multi-faceted approach informed by the Social-Ecological Model (Max et al., 2015), deeper insights related to youth mental health and social media use may be ascertained to inform both practice and research.

References

Arksey, H., & O'Malley L. (2005). Scoping studies: Towards a methodological framework. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 8(1), 19-32.

Bell Canada. (2020). Bell Let's Talk. Retrieved from https://letstalk.bell.ca/en/

- Boak, A., Hamilton, H.A., Adlaf, E.M., Henderson, J.L., & Mann, R.E. (2016). *The mental health and well-being of Ontario students*, 1991-2015: OSDUHS highlights. Toronto, Ontario: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.
- Booth, R. G., Allen, B. N., Jenkyn, K. M. B., Li, L., & Shariff, S. Z. (2018). Youth mental health services utilization rates after a large-scale social media campaign:
 Population-based interrupted time-series analysis. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*. 5(2), 1–15. http://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.2196/mental.8808
- Boyd, D., & Ellison, N. (2008). Social network sites: Definition, history, and scholarship. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 13, 210-230. doi: 10.1111/j.1083-6101.2007.00393.x
- Brailovskaia, J., & Margraf, J. (2018). What does media use reveal about personality and mental health? An exploratory investigation among German students. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(1), 1–16. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0191810
- Canadian Association of Paediatric Health Centres & The Provincial Centre of Excellence for Child and Youth Mental Health at CHEO. (2010). *Access and wait time in child and youth mental health: A background paper*. Retrieved from http://www.excellenceforchildandyouth.ca/

- Canadian Mental Health Association. (2015). *The Mental Health and Well-Being of Ontario Students: Detailed Ontario Student Drug Use and Health Survey*. Retrieved from http://www.camh.ca/en/research/news_and_publications
- Canadian Mental Health Association. (2019). *Child and youth mental health*. Retrieved from https://ontario.cmha.ca/mental-health/child-and-youth-mental-health/
- Canadian Mental Health Association (2020). *Fast facts about mental illness*. Retrieved from http://www.cmha.ca/media/fast-facts-about-mental-illness/
- Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. (2019). *Youth and mental health 101*. Retrieved from https://moodle8.camhx.ca/
- Centres for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). *Social Ecological Model*. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/publichealthissue/socialecologicalmodel
- Chaffey, D. (2020). Global social media research summary 2020. Retrieved from https://www.smartinsights.com/social-media-marketing/social-media-strategy/newglobal-social-media-research/
- Chan, M., Li, T. M. H., Law, Y. W., Wong, P. W. C., Chau, M., Cheng, C., ... Yip, P. S. F.
 (2017). Engagement of vulnerable youths using internet platforms. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(12), 1–17. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0189023
- Children's Mental Health Ontario. (2019). *Facts and figures*. Retrieved from https://cmho.org/facts-figures/
- Children's Mental Health Ontario. (2020). *Kids Can't Wait*. Retrieved from https://cmho.org/wp-content/uploads/CMHO-Report-WaitTimes-2020.pdf

- Clinton, J., Kays-Burden, A., Carter, C., Bhasin, K., Cairney, J., Carrey, N., Janus, M.,
 Kulkarni, C. and Williams, R. (2014) *Supporting Ontario's Youngest Minds: Investing in the Mental Health of Children Under 6*. Ontario Centre of Excellence for
 Child and Youth Mental Health. Retrieved from www.ottawapublichealth.ca
- Crone, E. A., & Konijn, E. A. (2018). Media use and brain development during adolescence. *Nature Communications*, 9(1). http://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-03126-x
- Forchuk, C., Reiss, J., Eichstedt, J., Singh, D., Collins, K., Rudnick, A., ... Fisman, S.
 (2016). The Youth-Mental Health Engagement Network: An exploratory pilot study of a smartphone and computer-based personal health record for youth experiencing depressive symptoms. *International Journal of Mental Health*, 45(3), 205–222.
- Galderisi, S., Heinz, A., Kastrup, M., Beezhold, J., & Sartorius, N. (2015). Toward a new definition of mental health. *World psychiatry: Official journal of the World Psychiatric Association (WPA)*, 14(2), 231–233. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20231
- Gandhi, S., Chiu, M., Lam, K., Cairney, J. C., Guttmann, A., & Kurdyak, P. (2016). Mental health service use among children and youth in Ontario: Population-based trends over time. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 61(2), 119–124. http://doi.org/10.1177/0706743715621254
- Gill, P. J., et al. (2017). Emergency department as a first contact for mental health problems in children and youth. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 56(6), 475-482.
- Government of Canada. (2020). *About Mental Illness*. Retrieved from https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/about-mental-illness.html

Gritton, J. C., Rushing, S. C., Stephens, D., Kerr, B., & Moreno, M. (2016). "People Care": Recommendations from Native Youth to Address Concerning Mental Health Displays on Social Media. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 58(2), S58. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2015.10.128

Halsall, T., Garinger, C., & Forneris, T. (2014). mindyourmind: An overview and evaluation of a web-facilitated mental health program that applies empowerment strategies for youth. *Journal of Consumer Health on the Internet*, *18*(4), 337–356.
http://doi.org/10.1080/15398285.2014.952998

Here to Help BC & BC Partners for Mental Health. (2020). Promoting positive mental health through a socio-ecological approach. Retrieved from https://www.heretohelp.bc.ca/sites/default/files/promoting-positive-mental-health-2011.pdf

- Holland, K. M., Vivolo-Kantor, A. M., Logan, J. E., & Leemis, R. W. (2017). Antecedents of suicide among youth aged 11–15: A multistate mixed methods analysis. *Journal* of Youth and Adolescence, 46(7), 1598–1610. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-016-0610-3
- Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences. (2017). More than half of children and youth in ER for mental health needs have not had any previous mental health-related contact with the health system. Retrieved from www.ices.on.ca
- Kelly, Y., Zilanawala, A., Booker, C., & Sacker, A. (2018). Social media use and adolescent mental health: Findings from the UK Millennium Cohort Study. *EClinicalMedicine*, 6, 59–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2018.12.005

- Keyes, C. (2006). Mental health in adolescence: Is America's youth flourishing? American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 76(3), 395–402. https://doi.org/10.1037/0002-9432.76.3.395
- Kopecký, K. (2016). Czech Children and Facebook A quantitative survey. *Telematics and Informatics*, *33*(4), 950–958. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2016.02.008

Khodarahami, S., & Fathi, R. (2017). The role of online social networking on emotional functioning in a sample of Iranian adolescents and young adults. *Journal of Technology in Human Services*, 35(2), 120–134.
http://doi.org/10.1080/15228835.2017.1293587

- Knox, S., Collings, S., & Nelson, K. (2016). Clinicians' perspectives on recruiting youth consumers for suicide research. Mental Health and Social Inclusion. 20(1), 52-62.
 doi: 10.1108/MHSI-11-2015-0039
- Lewis, S. P., Heath, N. L., Michal, N. J., & Duggan, J. M. (2012). Non-suicidal self-injury, youth, and the Internet: What mental health professionals need to know. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, 6(1), 13. http://doi.org/10.1186/1753-2000-6-13
- Liberati, A., Altman, D. G., Tetzlaff, J., Mulrow, C., Gøtzsche, P. C., Ioannidis, J. P. A., ...
 Moher, D. (2009). The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and
 meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: Explanation and
 elaboration. *PLoS Medicine*, 6(7). http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000100
- Livingston, J.D., Cianfrone, M., Korf-Uzan, K. et al. (2014). Another time point, a different story: One year effects of a social media intervention on the attitudes of

young people towards mental health issues. *Social Psychiatry & Psychiatric Epidemiology*. 49: 985. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-013-0815-7

Lukes, C. (2010). Social media. *Workplace Health & Safety*. 58(10) 415-417. doi: 10.1177/216507991005801002

Marengo, D., Longobardi, C., Fabris, M., & Settanni, M. (2018). Highly-visual social media and internalizing symptoms in adolescence: The mediating role of body image concerns. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 82, 63–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2018.01.003

- Max, J. L., Sedivy, V., & Garrido, M. (2015). Increasing our impact by using a socialecological approach. Washington, DC: Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Family and Youth Services Bureau.
- McBride, D. L. (2011). Risks and benefits of social media for children and adolescents.
 Journal of Pediatric Nursing, 26(5), 498–499.
 http://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedn.2011.05.001
- McLeroy, K. R., Bibeau, D., Steckler, A., & Glanz, K. (1988). An ecological perspective on health promotion programs. *Health Education & Behavior*, 15(4), 351–377.
- Mental Health and Addictions Leadership Advisory Council. (2016). *Moving forward: Better mental health means better health*. Retrieved from: http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/common/ministry/publications/reports/

MHASEF Research Team. (2017). The mental health of children and youth in Ontario: 2017

scorecard. Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences. Retrieved from www.ices.on.ca

Mueller, A. (2017). Does the media matter to suicide? Examining the social dynamics surrounding media reporting on suicide in a suicide-prone community. *Social*

Science and Medicine, 180, 152-159. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.03.019

- Ofcom. (2019). *Children and parents: Media use and attitudes report 2018*. Retrieved from https://www.ofcom.org.uk/research-and-data/media-literacy-research/childrens/
- Ontario Ministry of Children and Youth Services. (2012). *Moving on mental health: A* system that makes sense for children. Retrieved from http://www.children.gov.on.ca/
- Ottawa Public Health. (2019). Ottawa Infant and Early Childhood Mental Health Initiative. Retrieved from https://www.ottawapublichealth.ca/en/professionals-andpartners/resources/Documents/iecmh/iecmh-guide-complete-en.pdf
- Pew Research Centre. (2018). Social Media Use in 2018. Retrieved from https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2018/03/01/social-media-use-in-2018/
- Primack, B. A., & Escobar- Viera, C. (2017). Social media as it interfaces with psychosocial development and mental illness in transitional age youth. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*. 26(2), 217-233. doi: 10.1016/j.chc.2016.12.0071056-4993/17/
- Pontes, H. M. (2017). Investigating the differential effects of social networking site addiction and Internet gaming disorder on psychological health. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 6(4), 601–610. http://doi.org/10.1556/2006.6.2017.075
- Powers, J. D. (2012). Scientifically supported mental health intervention in schools: meeting accountability demands with an online resource. *Journal of Evidence-Based Social Work*, 9(3), 231–240. http://doi.org/10.1080/15433714.2010.494971

Public Health Agency of Canada. (2015). *Report from the Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System*. Retrieved from

https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/canada/health-canada

- Reid-Chassiakos, Y., Radesky, J., Christakis, D., Moreno, M. A., & Cross, C. (2016).
 Children and adolescents and digital media. *Pediatrics*, *138*(5), e20162593–
 e20162593. http://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-2593
- Reupert, A. (2017) A socio-ecological framework for mental health and well-being. *Advances in Mental Health*, *15*(2), 105-107, doi: 10.1080/18387357.2017.1342902
- Richards, D., Caldwell, P. H. Y., & Go, H. (2015). Impact of social media on the health of children and young people. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, *51*(12), 1152– 1157. http://doi.org/10.1111/jpc.13023
- Romer, D., Bagdasarov, Z., & More, E. (2013). Older versus newer media and the wellbeing of united states youth: Results from a national longitudinal panel. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 52(5), 613–619. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2012.11.012

Royal Society for Public Health (RSPH) & Young Health Movement. (2017).

#STATUSOFMIND- Social media and young people's mental health and wellbeing. *Royal Society for Public Health, May*, 32.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0055745

- Schmitt, T. L., Sims-Giddens, S. S., & Booth, R. G. (2012). Social media use in nursing education. Online Journal of Issues in Nursing, 17(3), 2. http://doi.org/10.3912/OJIN.Vol17No03Man02
- Scott, H., & Woods, H. (2018). Fear of missing out and sleep: Cognitive behavioural factors in adolescents' nighttime social media use. *Journal of Adolescence*, 68, 61–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2018.07.009

Shensa, A., Sidani, J. E., Dew, M. A., Escobar-Viera, C. G., & Primack, B. A. (2018). Social Media Use and Depression and Anxiety Symptoms: A Cluster Analysis. *American journal of health behavior*, 42(2), 116–128. https://doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.42.2.11

Smith, A., & Anderson, M. (2018). Social media use in 2018. Retrieved March 1, 2018 from http://www.pewinternet.org/

Statistics Canada. (2019). *Mental health care needs*, 2018. Retrieved from https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/

- Statistics Canada. (2020). Canadian internet use survey. Retrieved from https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/191029/dq191029a-eng.htm
- The Borgen Project. (2017). Social ecological model offers new approach to public health. Retrieved from https://borgenproject.org/social-ecological-model/
- Vaillant, G. (2012). Positive mental health: Is there a cross-cultural definition? *World Psychiatry*, *11*(2), 93–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wpsyc.2012.05.006
- Whiteman, H. (2015). *Social media: How does it affect our mental wellbeing?* Retrieved from http://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/275361.php
- Wong, C. A., Merchant, R. M., & Moreno, M. A. (2014). Using social media to engage adolescents and young adults with their health. *Healthcare (Amsterdam, Netherlands)*, 2(4), 220–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hjdsi.2014.10.005
- World Health Organization. (2020). *Mental Health*. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/mental_health/en/

Chapter Two

Literature Review

Introduction

The concept of social media has infiltrated the lives of people across the globe and has become an integral part of daily life. The term *social media* possesses a fluid definition and can be defined as applications, websites, or other networking platforms which enable users to connect with one another to share content and perspectives (Livingston et al., 2014). A survey of Canadian youth reports that 86% of youth users utilize social media on a daily basis (CMHA, 2018) while other supporting literature confirms that more than half of users 18- 24 years of age check their social media platforms multiple times per day (Richards et al., 2015).

While the creation of portable technologies such as smartphones have changed various aspects of social networking, their use has also been purported to pose potential risks to users from a health and well-being perspective (Crone & Konijn, 2018). Currently, some research literature suggests that youth users could be at high risk of negative implications related to mental health and wellness, resultant from the constantly connected world we now live in (Lukes, 2010).

Like all humans, youth (typically considered in the 10 to 25 year range) are greatly affected by their environments (CMHA, 2018). The years of adolescence mark significant transition for children as they enter a new stage of life and verge onto adulthood. With these changes comes an increased need for independence and autonomy, as they develop self-identity and where they fit within social constructs. In particular, relationships with others are critically important during this time (Gandhi et al., 2016). Developing a strong sense of self and identity is critical in order to prepare the adolescent for adulthood to be independent and interact with others as well as the world around them (CMHA, 2018).

Furthermore, transition from childhood to adolescence also brings additional challenges in terms of accessing supports and services particularly within a mental health context. While access to care may be more readily available during childhood, this often changes as they are transitioned to adult care, and their needs are no longer the responsibility of their parent or guardian (CMHO, 2019). With less adult involvement in their lives, youth who are seeking their natural independence often fall through these gaps in health systems, which exacerbates difficulties in accessing necessary supports and care (Gandhi et al., 2016). Evidently, this poses multiple challenges when it comes to social media use by youth when their parents/guardians are already less involved in their lives and may not be aware of how they use social media or are affected by interactions with others online (Orben & Przybylski, 2019). In addition, safeguards in place to prevent users under 18 years of age are frequently bypassed when children and youth create their own social media accounts without knowledge or consent of their parents or guardians (Powers, 2012).

Due to the critical period of growth and development youth experience during teenage years and young adulthood, they are particularly vulnerable to the influences of peer engagement and perceptions on their own feelings of self-worth and self-esteem (Reid-Chassiakos et al., 2016). Further, it has also been reported that youth may experience a great deal of stress and anxiety in regards to projecting a favourable image to their friends and peers (McBride, 2011). With the wide-scale diffusion of social media sites that allow users to quickly connect and share personal content with others, the potential for unintended consequences on youth and their self-worth and self-esteem (both positive and negative) have become amplified, youth attempt to project a favourable image to their friends and peers instead of their authentic identities (Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences [ICES], 2017).

In North America alone, 3% of paediatric emergency department visits and 10% of all hospital admissions are related to mental health concerns (Gill et al., 2017) with a dramatic increase in youth mental health related visits to Ontario emergency departments across Ontario by over 30% between 2006 and 2011 (Gandhi et al., 2016). Looking to the future, it is necessary to have an improved understanding of why this has occurred as mental health related expenses currently make up more than 15% of all Canadian healthcare spending (CMHA, 2018) and as a large stigma towards mental health still exists (Halsall et al., 2014).

It is important to acknowledge that while there are potential negative implications related to social media use, a bidirectional relationship exists which may present some positive implications as well. Some adolescent social media users do report higher levels of feeling connected to peers and others and ease of access to reputable and educational information provides health and wellness supports to young users online (Allen et al., 2014).

Although significant research in various aspects of youth mental health have been conducted to date, there is little understanding regarding the full implications of social media use on the mental health and well-being of youth users. With peer interactions facilitated by the use of social media, new concerns such as cyberbullying, and appropriate use of social media/appropriate content (i.e., *sexting*) have emerged. While social media has the capacity to be a robust networking tool, it also has the ability to create new challenges related to emotional and psychological health, encourage unhealthy behaviours, and provide a means to be connected to information they would not otherwise have access to (Knox et al., 2016). Therefore, in order to advance the understanding related to the implications of social media on youth mental health, a scoping review was conducted to synthesize knowledge in this domain. The purposes of this scoping review were:

- To explore the extent of current available literature related to the implications of social media on mental health of youth users;
- To summarize findings of this literature for future research and policy development in this area both in nursing and other interprofessional teams; and,
- 3) To identify gaps in current available research and literature to inform future research needs within this topic area in a technology driven age.

Search Methods

Criteria for Considering Studies for Review

This scoping review included research studies which examined the impact of social media use on the mental health or mental well-being of youth users. The decision to complete a scoping review instead of more systematic review methodologies was made primarily due to nascent nature of the topic and difficulty in "visualizing the range of material that might be available" (Arksey & O'Malley, 2005, p.6). Research studies were included in this review if they met the following inclusion criteria:

- The amount/extent of social media use by youth was measured or discussed at length;
- The concept of social media was well defined and discussed (inclusive of all specific social media platforms addressed);
- Mental health or mental well-being was a key variable or construct examined in the research study;
- 4) The study or article specifically discussed youth users (the target population);
- 5) The study included a discernable research method (ie. qualitative or quantitative);
- The study was published in the English language (regardless of global location); and,
- 7) The study was published in 2010 or onwards (due to changes in social media platform use and popularity over the past decade).

All studies, regardless of research methods were included in the scoping review due to the relatively small body of literature available on this topic if they met the criteria above. Although eligible for consideration, there were no pilot studies available at the time of the literature review which met the search criteria. Abstract only studies and grey literature were not included in the review.

Search Strategy for Identification of Studies

Electronic databases (PubMed, CINAHL, Scopus, PsycINFO) were searched between February to April 2018 for eligible studies using predetermined MeSH search syntax (Appendix A). As per the scoping review approach proposed by *Arksey and O'Malley* (2005), the reference lists of these studies were also examined for potentially relevant literature for the scoping review. Based on results obtained through online database searches, each study was reviewed by a member of the research team to ensure appropriateness for the review. Overall, a total of 18 studies were retrieved. Two additional relevant articles were found through reviewing of individual study reference lists. After screening and full-text review, a total of seven articles were deemed eligible for this review (*Appendix B*). *Appendix C* outlines studies which were examined and excluded based on search criteria, with the rationale for exclusion of each.

Data Extraction

Data was extracted from each eligible study using a predeveloped data extraction tool, guided by *Arksey and O'Malley* (2005). The tool consisted of the following fields (*Table 1*): author(s), year of publication, location of the study, study population, outcomes, and significant findings from the study.

Collating, Summarizing, and Reporting of Results

For the purpose of this scoping review, both the prevalence of literature available in the topic area of interest was included, but also further description of themes found throughout examination of the literature itself. Numerical analysis was used to determine the total number of articles searched and eligible for the study, as well as the nature of these studies (i.e., the aim of the study and global context). An exploration of thematic analysis provided further insight into each individual article, which was then compared to all the other studies overall. A thematic analysis was conducted of the content to identify common findings amongst the various discipline databases which were searched and various study contexts.
Results

Study Design

All seven which were deemed eligible for this scoping review are outlined in *Table 1*, summarizing the data which was obtained from each individual article. Of the seven included studies, none utilized a traditional model of control/intervention groups (although one article did explore social media users as a non-classical "intervention" group). This was also the only study which used a retrospective design (due to the context of the study itself).

Three of the other studies examined questionnaires distributed or completed with the participants (Brailovskaia & Margraf, 2018; Chan et al., 2017; Romer et. al, 2013). Four of the eligible studies were primary studies (Brailovskaia & Margraf, 2018; Chan et al., 2017; Pontes, 2017; Romer et al, 2013) while three were secondary analyses (Booth et al., 2018; Holland et al, 2017; Mueller, 2017).

Significant Findings	Bell Let's Talk temporally associated with increase in mental health related visits of Ontario's youth to primary health care and psychiatric services More females vs. males who presented with mental health needs	for services Noticeable difference temporally in mental health visits also as content sharing apps have become more popular (ie. Instagram)	Participants who frequently use internet have higher values of self- esteem, narcissism, life satisfaction, resilience and social support. No significant relationship between use of social networking sites and depression.	Many opportunities available utilizing social media for health professionals to engage youth and help distressed youth online Approximately 20% of youth who expressed they were in distress online did not seek out help The internet could bridge the gap between need for seeking out help and having it offered in real time
Outcomes/ Measures	Perceptions of Mental Health/ Associated Stigma Campaign Effectiveness Number of Visits	Demographics (Female vs. Male) and Age of Youth Time Series Graphic	Media Use - captured on Likert Scale (froquency of use) - Narcissism: Personality Inventory used Mental Health: - Life Satisfaction: Perceived life satisfaction Scale used - Resilience: German Resilience: German Resilience: German Resilience: German Resilience: German Resilience: German Resilience: Gate - Depression/Anxiety Stress Scales 21 Used	Self- Reported "Distressed" - yes or no? (Have they been/ are they distressed? Sought out help from professionals (ic. social worker, psychologist, etc.)
Study Methodology	Interrupted Time Series Retrospective Examination Autoregressive remodeling		Cohort Study (No intervention) one-time Questionnaire	Cross- Sectional
Study Aim	Examine impact of 2012 Bell Let's Talk Mental Health Awareness Campaign in Ontario CA		Investigate relationship between personality traits, mental health variables and media use	Explore online distress and help seeking behaviours of Hong Kong youth
Study Population	Convenience Sample of 5.66 million visits to primary care & psychiatric services by Ontario youth 10- 24 years from 2006- 2015		Students of a large German University. n= 633 participants	Youths in Hong Kong, China who received telephone surveys January 23- March 22, 2013 n=1010
Study Information	Booth, R., Allen, B. Jenkyn, K., Li, L., & Shariff, S. (2018)	(ON, CAN)	Brailovskaia, J., & Margraf, J. (2018) (GER)	Chan et al. (2017) (HK, CHN)

Deaths are often discussed in detail online via social media and can insight future suicides Mental Health Stigma affects how the media reports suicide/ how comfortable people are discussing via social media	10% of youth utilized social media or their phone to inform someone that they were planning to die or talk about suicide in general Some youth also posted about suicide/ mental health challenges online in the weeks leading up to their suicide	High TV users had lower academic grades Moderate use of internet was supportive, also built positive networking with peers. Lower socioeconomic status and high rates of TV/ Internet use produced lower grades Higher findings of depression with high rates of internet/ TV use.
Community Perceptions of suicide Number of Youth Suicides Discussion online and in the media amongst youth after a suicide has occurred	School Related Problems: reported in 40% of cases of suicides, feelings of stress related to academic work or feeling they cannot meet expectations Relationship Problems: with relatives, in blended families, dating partners, with online interactions with peers Individual Problems: levels of self-esteem/ self-worth, depression, previous attempted suicides	Demographics Age, gender, school attendance for past year, neighbourhood median income, internet in the home, hours per day on media, specific media uses
Ethnographic Study	Mixed Methods - Analysis of Previous Suicides - Content analysis of coroner reports	Cohort Study No Intervention Completed telephone survey at beginning and one year's time
Determine if media "crafts storics" about causes of youth suicide	Determine if there are patterns of antecedent behaviours which occur prior to attempted/ completed suicides	Determine effects of older vs. newer media use on academic, social and mental health outcomes in youth
2014-2016 collected data of local youth to determine how youth discuss and are affected by media reports of suicides (in a town with very high youth suicide rates and low levels of mental health) N= 91	NVDRS (National Violent Deaths Recording System) 1606 suicides recorded Aged 11-15 years 2003-2014	Panel from National Annenberg Survey of Youth Telephone survey 14- 22 years old 86% under 22 years n= 719
Mueller, A. (2017). (USA)	Holland, K. M., Vivolo-Kantor, A. M., Logan, J. E., & Leenis, R. W. (2017) (USA)	Romer, D., Bagdasarov, Z., & More, E. (2013). (PA, USA)

Table 1 | (Continued)

Pontes, H. M.	Adolescents (53.5%	Examine	Cohort Study	Socio-demographics:	Higher time spent online did not
(2017).	male) aged 10-18	relationship	No	 age, gender, relationship 	predict a social networking site
	years at local	between social	Intervention	status	addiction disorder
	elementary school in	networking site			
	Portugal	addictions and		Frequency of Tech use:	Both Social Network Site Addiction
	Convenience Sample	internet gaming		Social Networking Site	& Internet Gaming Disorder caused
		disease on		Addiction:	high levels of anxiety, stress &
(POR)	From May to June	psychological		 weekly time spent on 	depression
	2015	health		internet for leisure	
				(Bergen Facebook	
				Addiction Scale)	
	n= 509			Internet Gaming Disorder:	
				 weekly time spent 	
				gaming (Internet Gaming	
				Disorder Scale)	
				Psychiatric Distress:	
				Depression/ Anxiety & Stress	
				Scale	
	-				

Table 1 | (Continued)

Geographic Location

Three of the seven studies which were eligible for this review originated in the United States (Holland et al., 2017; Mueller, 2017; Romer et al., 2013) one from Canada (Booth et al., 2018), two from European contexts (Brailovskaia & Margraf, 2018; Pontes, 2017) and one originating in China (Chan et al., 2017).

Patient Population

Overall, the age of youth defined in the individual studies varied between 10 and 24 years of age. Of particular note, two of the seven studies utilized various terms interchangeably throughout the studies when discussing the youth population (Chan et al, 2017; Romer et al., 2013). Only one study considered previous experience of mental health challenges or required previous mental health supports (Halsall et al., 2014). None of the seven studies explicitly compared mental health (or reported rates of mental health and well-being) prior to and after social media was utilized.

Thematic Analysis of Outcome Measures

Overall, analysis of these studies presented themes were as follows:

1) Appropriate Use of Social Media

Appropriate use of social media was a common theme throughout multiple articles in the scoping review, the concept of *appropriate* use being broken down in two ways: both frequency of use (or overuse) and engaging in appropriate behaviour online. The idea of use in moderation (or finding a balance between being disconnected/overuse) was found throughout the Romer et al., (2013) and Pontes (2017) studies. The studies respectively discussed youth's *dependence* on social media and frequency of using various social media platforms daily to communicate with peers and others online. They also explored

reliance on validation from online peers, directly affecting self-esteem and self-image of users. The articles also touched on *appropriate* use in terms of new concerns that have developed since social media's conception such as cyberbullying and youth not having the necessary education or knowledge around what behaviours are appropriate online. The Romer et al. (2013) article did however discuss the implications of socioeconomic status and how lack of resources/education around utilizing social media predisposed youth to high levels of depression and subsequent low levels of mental health.

2) Networking

Networking or connecting to other peers/supports was discussed in all of the articles in the review. The term networking refers to users being able to connect with one another (in this case using online platforms), to create a connection between users allowing them to share ideas or information amongst each other (Schmitt et al., 2012). In a digital sense, networking allows users to converse with others online with similar interests or experiences. From the perspective of utilizing social media, these platforms provide the unique opportunity to facilitate and enhance communication and networking amongst users around the globe. In particular, Brailovskaia and Margraf (2018) and Pontes (2017) depicted that high levels of social media use did not necessarily correspond with low levels of mental health or self-esteem. Booth et al. (2018) did examine a subsequent drastic increase in mental health visits to care providers since an initiative utilizing social media to reduce stigma around mental health.

Furthermore, Holland et al. (2017) discovered that youth often post about their mental health challenges online (especially prior to suicidal ideation). Similarly, Chan et al. (2017) discussed potential benefits social media could provide to youth to support

them through mental health challenges, although overall poorer health outcomes for those who expressed distress online and did not seek supports despite verbalized challenges with mental health. These positive aspects were contrasted by the Romer et al. (2013) article found that higher levels of TV and internet use were associated with low levels of self-esteem and high rates of depression, but moderate use of the internet proved to build positive relationships with peers (Pontes, 2017). Due to the small number of studies currently available, it is probable that further insight is needed to clarify this within a variety of contexts and settings. This would be particularly helpful to understand how best to utilize social media platforms to connect with youth to provide important health information, and also cultivate relationships using social media safely and responsibly online.

3)Health Implications

Unfortunately, the internet and social media's ability to connect each other at almost all times does have pose potential concerns. Mueller (2017) discussed that youth will often plan out attempted suicides or discuss self-harm behaviours online with each other which can in fact exacerbate mental health challenges. Holland et al. (2017) confirmed that ten percent of youths who have committed suicide did notify their friends or family via social media or a text message on their phones that they were planning to harm themselves prior to their attempt.

Limitations

Like all knowledge synthesis this scoping review has limitations which need to be stated. In conducting this literature review it was noted that there are often variable terms used interchangeably both in the context of "youth" and "mental health". While the most common variations were utilized, it is possible that some available literature may not have been captured which would be a potential suggestion for future literature reviews in this area.

It is also important to consider that the variation of populations, health system and context of social media use may differ across global contexts as well. While two studies utilized the same anxiety, stress and depression scale (Brailovskaia & Margraf, 2018; Pontes, 2017), different tools and methods might be used in global contexts to measure and examine mental health and well-being among youth social media users.

Implications for Practice

Considering the influence of social media on the mental health of youth, the potential to significantly impact the health and well-being of this population, and its potential to support young people to achieve mental wellness, a range of practice implications exist. Nurses, physicians, and other care providers working in paediatric contexts are in a unique position having the ability to support youth during this transition period, and also have the opportunity for one-on-one interaction when providing care. These providers could also potentially benefit by incorporating this knowledge to use tools like social media to enhance communication when working with this population and to facilitate access to timely, relevant, and reputable resources for health education purposes.

The findings of this scoping review have highlighted the need for further research within this area, as the small body of literature available is not consistent nor definitive. In addition, since the concept of social media is still relatively new, many studies in this area cannot control for other confounding variables which could influence the relatively small pool of available data in this area (Pontes, 2017). The available literature currently identifies knowledge gaps related to the understanding of youth mental health and its relationship to the frequency/typology of social media use and gender differences (Booth et al., 2018).

This scoping review also revealed that social media cannot be assumed to have a distinct positive or negative influence on youth mental health without considering the context within which it is used, and the knowledge of its user (Romer et al., 2013). While further research in this area should include concepts such as frequency of use, it is clear there are many additional factors which may play into the effect(s) that social media has on youth users. While factors such as frequency of use may affect the prevalence of mental illness conditions like depression and mood disorders in youth, these technologies may also help attenuate feelings of isolation that adolescents and youth might otherwise experience (Viner et al., 2019).

Moving forward, it is suggested that mediating factors which may also influence mental health and general well-being also be considered during examinations of youth mental health and social media use (Viner et al., 2019). While social media has significant potential to support youth mental health in innovative ways (Powers, 2012), this can only happen if it is used effectively, appropriately, and safety within youth populations.

References

- Allen, K. A., Ryan, T., Gray, D. L., McInerney, D. M., & Waters, L. (2014). Social media use and social connectedness in adolescents: The positives and the potential pitfalls. *Australian Educational and Developmental Psychologist*, *31*(1), 18–31.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/edp.2014.2
- Arksey, H., & O'Malley L. (2005). Scoping studies: Towards a methodological framework. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 8(1), 19-32.
- Booth, R. G., Allen, B. N., Jenkyn, K. M. B., Li, L., & Shariff, S. Z. (2018). Youth Mental Health Services Utilization Rates After a Large-Scale Social Media Campaign:
 Population-Based Interrupted Time-Series Analysis. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*. 5(2), 1–15. http://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.2196/mental.8808
- Brailovskaia, J., & Margraf, J. (2018). What does media use reveal about personality and mental health? An exploratory investigation among German students. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(1), 1–16. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0191810
- Canadian Mental Health Association. (2018). The Mental Health and Well-Being of Ontario Students: Detailed Ontario Student Drug Use and Health Survey. 2015. Retrieved Jan 22, 2018 from http://www.camh.ca/en/research/news_and_publications
- Chan, M., Li, T. M. H., Law, Y. W., Wong, P. W. C., Chau, M., Cheng, C., ... Yip, P. S.
 F. (2017). Engagement of vulnerable youths using internet platforms. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(12), 1–17. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0189023
- Children's Mental Health Ontario. (2019). *Facts and figures*. Retrieved from https://cmho.org/facts-figures/

- Crone, E. A., & Konijn, E. A. (2018). Media use and brain development during adolescence. *Nature Communications*, 9(1). http://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-03126-x
- Forchuk, C., Reiss, J., Eichstedt, J., Singh, D., Collins, K., Rudnick, A., ... Fisman, S. (2016). The youth-mental health engagement network: An exploratory pilot study of a smartphone and computer-based personal health record for youth experiencing depressive symptoms. *International Journal of Mental Health*, 45(3), 205–222.
- Gandhi, S., Chiu, M., Lam, K., Cairney, J. C., Guttmann, A., & Kurdyak, P. (2016).
 Mental health service use among children and youth in Ontario: Population-based trends over time. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *61*(2), 119–124.
 http://doi.org/10.1177/0706743715621254
- Gill, P. J., et al. (2017). Emergency department as a first contact for mental health problems in children and youth. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 56(6), 475-482.
- Gritton, J. C., Rushing, S. C., Stephens, D., Kerr, B., & Moreno, M. (2016). "People Care": Recommendations from Native youth to address concerning mental health displays on social media. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 58(2), S58. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2015.10.128
- Halsall, T., Garinger, C., & Forneris, T. (2014). MindyourMind: An overview and evaluation of a web-facilitated mental health program that applies empowerment strategies for youth. *Journal of Consumer Health on the Internet*, *18*(4), 337–356. http://doi.org/10.1080/15398285.2014.952998

- Holland, K. M., Vivolo-Kantor, A. M., Logan, J. E., & Leemis, R. W. (2017). Antecedents of suicide among youth Aged 11–15: A multistate mixed methods analysis. *Journal* of Youth and Adolescence, 46(7), 1598–1610. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-016-0610-3
- Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences. (2017). More than half of children and youth in ER for mental health needs have not had any previous mental health-related contact with the health system. Retrieved from www.ices.on.ca
- Khodarahami, S., & Fathi, R. (2017). The Role of Online Social Networking on Emotional Functioning in a Sample of Iranian Adolescents and Young Adults. *Journal of Technology in Human Services*, 35(2), 120–134. http://doi.org/10.1080/15228835.2017.1293587
- Knox, S., Collings, S., & Nelson, K. (2016). Clinicians' perspectives on recruiting youth consumers for suicide research. *Mental Health and Social Inclusion*, 20(1), 52-62.
 doi: 10.1108/MHSI-11-2015-0039
- Lewis, S. P., Heath, N. L., Michal, N. J., & Duggan, J. M. (2012). Non-suicidal self-injury, youth, and the Internet: What mental health professionals need to know. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, 6(1), 13. http://doi.org/10.1186/1753-2000-6-13

Liberati, A., Altman, D. G., Tetzlaff, J., Mulrow, C., Gøtzsche, P. C., Ioannidis, J. P. A., ... Moher, D. (2009). The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: Explanation and elaboration. *PLoS Medicine*, 6(7). http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000100

- Livingston, J.D., Cianfrone, M., Korf-Uzan, K. et al. (2014). Another time point, a different story: One year effects of a social media intervention on the attitudes of young people towards mental health issues. *Social Psychiatry & Psychiatric Epidemiology*. 49, 985- 990. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-013-0815-7
- Lukes, C. (2010). Social media. *Workplace Health & Safety*. 58 (10) 415-417. doi: 10.1177/216507991005801002
- McBride, D. L. (2011). Risks and benefits of social media for children and adolescents. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 26(5), 498–499.

http://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedn.2011.05.001

- MHASEF Research Team. (2017). The mental health of children and youth in Ontario:2017 scorecard. Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences. Retrieved from www.ices.on.ca
- Mueller, A. (2017). Does the media matter to suicide? Examining the social dynamics surrounding media reporting on suicide in a suicide-prone community. *Social Science and Medicine*. 180, 152-159. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.03.019

Orben, A., & Przybylski, A. K. (2019). The association between adolescent well-being and digital technology use. *Nature Human Behaviour*. 3, 173-182.

O'Reilly, M. (2020). Social media and adolescent mental health: the good, the bad and the ugly. *Journal of Mental Health*, 29(2), 200–206. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638237.2020.1714007

Primack, B. A., & Escobar- Viera, C. (2017). Social media as it interfaces with psychosocial development and mental illness in transitional age youth. *Child and*

Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America. 26(2), 217-233. doi: 10.1016/j.chc.2016.12.0071056-4993/17/

- Pontes, H. M. (2017). Investigating the differential effects of social networking site addiction and Internet gaming disorder on psychological health. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 6(4), 601–610. http://doi.org/10.1556/2006.6.2017.075
- Powers, J. D. (2012). Scientifically supported mental health intervention in schools: meeting accountability demands with an online resource. *Journal of Evidence-Based Social Work*, 9(3), 231–240. http://doi.org/10.1080/15433714.2010.494971
- Reid Chassiakos, Y., Radesky, J., Christakis, D., Moreno, M. A., & Cross, C. (2016).
 Children and Adolescents and Digital Media. *Pediatrics*, *138*(5), e20162593–
 e20162593. http://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-2593
- Richards, D., Caldwell, P. H. Y., & Go, H. (2015). Impact of social media on the health of children and young people. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, *51*(12), 1152–1157. http://doi.org/10.1111/jpc.13023
- Romer, D., Bagdasarov, Z., & More, E. (2013). Older versus newer media and the wellbeing of united states youth: Results from a national longitudinal panel. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 52(5), 613–619. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2012.11.012
- Schmitt, T. L., Sims-Giddens, S. S., & Booth, R. G. (2012). Social media use in nursing education. Online Journal of Issues in Nursing, 17(3), 2. http://doi.org/10.3912/OJIN.Vol17No03Man02
- Smith, A., & Anderson, M. (2018). *Social media use in 2018*. Retrieved March 1, 2018 from http://www.pewinternet.org/

Viner, R. M., Gireesh, A., Stiglic, N., Hudson, L. D., Goddings, A.-L., Ward, J. L., & Nicholls, D. E. (2019). Roles of cyberbullying, sleep, and physical activity in mediating the effects of social media use on mental health and wellbeing among young people in England: a secondary analysis of longitudinal data. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health*, *3*(10), 685–696. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(19)30186-5

Chapter Three

Research Protocol

Background and Information

Communication in society today has been greatly shaped by the use of technology and electronic media consumption. The increased adoption and use of social media technologies has forever changed the lives of users around the globe (Osborne-Gowey, 2014; Lukes, 2010). Social media networking sites such as *Facebook, Twitter, Instagram,* and *Snapchat* have become particularly popular among youth users due to their ability to share media content and engage in online discussion (Gritton et al., 2016). The creation of portable technologies (e.g., mobile phones) has facilitated access to online networking platforms, with 86% of Ontario youth reporting they utilize social media on a daily basis (Canadian Mental Health Association, 2015). In fact, more than half of youths confirm they check these social media accounts multiple times per day (Smith & Anderson, 2018).

However, with the adoption and uptake of social media use, implications related to the health and well-being of users have been posed (Reid-Chassiakos et al., 2016). For instance, in youth populations, the use of social media has been posited to potentially generate negative consequences on self-esteem and other mental wellness considerations (McBride, 2011). In contrast, social media platforms also have the ability to connect youth with one another at a time of growth and development where friend and peer interaction is extremely important and plays a significant role development (Primack et al., 2017). Potential benefits of social media use include reducing isolation, and connecting users to other individuals with similar lived experience(s) regardless of their geographical location (Viner et al., 2019).

Rationale and Objectives

Due to the relatively recent adoption of social media en masse by society, large scale exploration of social media use in youth and its resulting effects on mental health has only begun. Further, there is currently a literature gap related to the impact of social media on the mental health of youth during their development and into their formative years, which has been proposed to be influential upon aspects of adulthood (McBride, 2011). To date, much of the social media-related health research has been completed in various adult contexts, making research activity in youth populations worthy of deeper exploration (Viner et al., 2019).

Knowing that unaddressed mental health challenges can have long lasting implications on growth and development of youth, there is a need to further explore how youth populations and their mental health are influenced by these social media technologies. To explore this, the proposed study will examine various relationships and predictors between sociodemographic, social media usage, and mental health variables in a youth population.

Research Questions

Two overarching research questions are to be examined within this proposed study:

- To explore and describe youth use of social media in the General Social Survey (2013, Cycle 27-Social Identity); and,
- 2. To explore relationships between sociodemographic and social media use variables and their association with perceived mental health in a youth population.

Exploring these two research questions will help provide a better understanding related to the various mental health implications experienced by youth who utilize social media.

Methods

Proposed Study Design

A secondary analysis has been proposed for this research project utilizing data obtained by Statistics Canada. The proposed analysis is a non-experimental, crosssectional, predictive design, drawing upon data arising from the General Social Survey Cycle 27 survey held locally at the Western University, Research Data Centre (RDC). A range of descriptive and inferential methods will be conducted to gain insights from the data. Due to the number of respondents to this survey (over 27,500 total participants) (Statistics Canada, 2014) and its population level representation, this proposed study is both pragmatic and also possesses significant external validity potential.

Ethical and Privacy Considerations

Ethical and privacy considerations are essential considerations in any type of research. First, since this project is a proposed secondary analysis, ethical approval is not required as per Western University's RDC Guidelines (Research Data Technology Centre, 2008). When utilizing data from the RDC, many safeguards are already in place to protect study participant privacy and personal information. In order to access the RDC environment, a researcher is required to submit a proposal related to the proposed project, data sources required, and resources required to complete the study. The proposed study described in this thesis chapter was approved by the RDC (Appendix D). If and when a proposal is approved by the RDC, researchers must complete a rigorous vetting process to ensure safety and reliability of the researcher and the study, including having fingerprints taken and providing an oath or affirmation of office and secrecy (Statistics Canada, 2020b). Any analysis must be completed within the locked and protected RDC facility. Data that is to be extracted from the RDC must be vetted for clearance by one of the staff RDC analysts who reviews the analyses or data for privacy and confidentiality considerations (Statistics Canada, 2020b). Any data housed within the RDC is the property of Statistics Canada and is also de-identified prior to being stored. All personal information which is collected and held by Statistics Canada is protected by the RDC extensively, and any violation of the terms of appropriate use of this data is punishable by law (Statistics Canada, 2020a).

Data Source

The General Social Survey (GSS) was developed in 1985 and is collected every five years by Statistics Canada to gather data on social changes related to the lives of Canadians on a national level (Statistics Canada, 2020). Statistics Canada describes that the primary objectives of this survey are: "to gather data on social trends to monitor changes in living conditions and well-being of Canadians over time, and to provide information on specific social policy issues of current or emerging interest" (Statistics Canada, 2020, para 3). Due to the inclusion of social media and internet use questions in more recent versions of the GSS, this survey was deemed a relevant data source from which to underpin the proposed study. In particular, access for this proposed study will be required to the specific data arising from the GSS (Social Identity-Cycle 27) survey version, which examines factors such as social media use by Canadian respondents. Responses contained in Cycle 27 of the GSS were collected between June 2013 to March 2014 (Statistics Canada, 2014). Survey questions specific to Cycle 27 included selfreported variables such as contact with family, contact with friends, use of internet and social media platforms, and traditional media consumption (Statistics Canada, 2014).

Questions related to self-perceived or self-rated general health and mental health were

also collected on Cycle 27 of the GSS (Statistics Canada, 2020a). Table 2 represents the

variables arising from Cycle 27 of the GSS that will be required to execute the proposed

study.

Table 2 | Table of Required Variables (General Social Survey-Cycle 27)

VARIABLE CODES AND DESCRIPTIONS REQUIRED FOR THIS PROJECT

DEMOGRAPHIC VARIABLES	
Variable Code	Description
AGE	Age of respondent at time of survey
AGEGR5	Age group of the respondent (groups of 5)
SEX	Sex of respondent
INCMHSD	Personal and household income- total (2012)
VISMIN	Visible Minority Status of Respondent
DISCRIM	Experienced Discrimination in Past 5 Years
EDM_01A	Type of Educational Institution Currently Attending – Elementary School/ Junior/ High School
EDM_01B	Type of Educational Institution Currently Attending – Trade School, College
EDM_01C	Type of Educational Institution Currently Attending – University

SOCIAL MEDIA USE VARIABLES	
Variable Code	Description
ICR 10	Past 12 Months- Social Media Website
ICR 30	Frequency of Social Media Account Access
ICR 20A	Has a Facebook Account?
ICR_20B	Has a Google + Account?
ICR 20C	Has a LinkedIn Account?
ICR 20D	Has a Twitter Account?
ICR 20E	Has a Myspace Account?
CWF_45	How Often Communicated with Friends via Text? (Past
	Month)
CWF_50	How Often Communicated with Friends via Email/
	Internet? (Past Month)

HEALTH AND WELL BEING VARIABLES	
Variable	Variable Description
SLM 01	Subjective Well Being
SRH_110	Self-Rated General Health
SRH 115	Self-Rated Mental Health

Population Characteristics

Cycle 27 of the GSS sampled 27,695 Canadians over the age of 15 years who were non-institutionalized (Statistics Canada, 2014). The survey received a response rate of 41% (just below target population of approximately 31,000)(Statistics Canada, 2014). It was completed by the respondent voluntarily and confidentially, either by an electronic questionnaire or through a computer assisted telephone interview by trained interviewer (Statistics Canada, 2014). Various general and demographic questions were included on each cycle of the GSS and asked in addition to specific questions related to Cycle 27's topic of Social Identity (Statistics Canada, 2014). The complete dataset was requested for this age group to examine the population of participants aged 15-24 years and complete further data analysis of factors affecting the outcome variable. The research team expected this cohort to be approximately 5000 respondents of the over 27,000 studied.

Respondents lived in the 10 provinces of Canada (territories were not included in this particular survey) (Statistics Canada, 2014). Minimum sample sizes were determined for each province, and once stratum sample size targets had been met, remaining individuals within the sample were allocated within the strata (which were balanced at national and strata estimates)(Statistics Canada, 2014). Many large metropolitan centres or Census Metropolitan Areas (CMAs) were considered a stratum (Statistics Canada, 2014). Strategies put in place by Statistics Canada were able to leverage previously collected data from other census activities, which allowed for the increased probability of contacting households without a listed telephone number (Statistics Canada, 2014). As the GSS examined participants 15 years of age and older, the cohort for this proposed study was 15 to 24 years of age. Inclusion criteria for the proposed study included: (1) being a respondent to the GSS (Cycle 27); and, (2) between 15 to 24 years of age. The age cut-off of 25 years to be considered *youth* was determined by the majority of the supporting literature which states that 25 years of age typically marks the conclusion of brain and growth development (Crone & Konjin, 2018). Due to age blocks pre-defined within the General Social Survey (15-19 and 20-24 years) (Statistics Canada, 2014), all participants 24 years of age and younger were proposed for inclusion.

Data Analysis

Data arising from the GSS Cycle 27 survey will be analyzed using both SPSS (IBM Corp, 2019) and STATA (StataCorp, 2015). Descriptive statistics will be generated for all meaningful variables in this study, and reported as categorical data or as mean/standard deviation, where appropriate. Of particular interest, descriptive statistics related to youth cohort demographic and other self-reported social media use variables will be focused upon. Covariates to be included in this study include *age* (AGE, AGEGR5), *sex* (SEX), *income* (INCMHSD), *visible minority status* (VISMIN), *having experienced discrimination* (DISCRIM), *use of social media in past year* (ICR_10), *internet use* (ICR_30), *texting use* (CWF_45), and *having social media accounts* (ICR_20A, ICR_20B, ICR_20C, ICR_20D, ICR_20E). Other independent variables include *Self-Rated General Health* (*SRH_110*) and *Subjective Well-being* (*SLM_01*). *Self-Rated Mental Health* (*SRH_115*) is proposed as the dependent variable of the study.

Binary multivariate logistic regression will form the primary data analysis method in this proposed study, and be used to explore relationships between sociodemographic variables, social media use, and perceived mental health. This type of binary multivariate analysis has been selected due to the variables included and analyzed in this project – and primarily, the desire to analyze the dependent variable (i.e., *Self-Perceived Mental Health [SRH_115]*) as a binary outcome of *poor* or *good* perceived mental health. In order to recode the *Self-Perceived Mental Health (SRH_115)* dependent variable into a binary outcome, it will be recoded from its original 5-point scale in the GSS (where 1 excellent, 5 poor) to a researcher-derived binary outcome of *good* (1-3) or *poor* (4-5). Through recording this dependent variable, it is hoped that analysis through binary logistic regression will help show if any of the study covariates are associated with self-perceived mental health in youth, in either protective or negative fashions.

In order to execute a binary logistic regression certain assumptions must be met. The assumptions to be met for this proposed analysis include the following:

- the dependent variable must be dichotomous (Polit & Beck, 2017) (i.e., *Self-Perceived Mental Health*);
- 2) the independent variable(s) are categorical or continuous (Polit & Beck, 2017);and,
- there must be little to no multicollinearity between independent variables. (Polit & Beck, 2017)

Limitations

One significant limitation of the proposed dataset to be used in this study is the way in which the data in the survey were collected by Statistics Canada. Since potential respondents were contacted by telephone, individuals without access to a telephone were not able to be contacted or participate in this survey (Statistics Canada, 2014). This potential sampling bias may limit the extent of responses and eligible participants.

In addition, as often experienced in research, turnaround time between completion of the research project, publication of results, and relevancy of the topic may vary due to elapsed time (Polit & Beck, 2017). In this instance, the survey was completed in 2013-2014, focusing on social media platforms such as *Facebook*, *MySpace*, *Google+*, *Twitter*, and *LinkedIn* (Statistics Canada, 2014). It is important to consider that the relevancy of the social media platforms examined at this time may have changed significantly over the last few years (i.e., both *MySpace* and *Google+* no longer exist). Therefore, the constantly evolving nature of social media and the typologies of social media technology used by youth should be considered when reviewing the proposed project. Finally, when utilizing self-measured and self-reported measures as proposed in this study, there is always the potential for response bias and other recall biases. *COVID-19 Limitations*

Due to the global COVID-19 pandemic in spring of 2020, significant disruption to the proposed research study occurred. Due to the province of Ontario and the Government of Canada declaring a State of Emergency (Government of Ontario, 2020), RDC centres were closed until further notice (and remain closed as of late May 2020). With the closure of RDC centres, all research projects (including this proposed study here) were been indefinitely delayed, as physical access to the RDC lab is required to complete data analysis and extraction (Research Data Centre UWO, 2020; Research Data Technology Centres, 2008). Due to this unprecedented situation, it was clarified with Western University SGPS that an alternative thesis presentation would be acceptable, in lieu of reporting actual data arising from the proposed RDC study (*Appendix E*). To accomplish this, Western University SGPS was receptive to a modified thesis presentation, which has been presented here in the form of a comprehensive scoping review (Chapter 2) and protocol for the proposed incomplete study (Chapter 3) examining the relationships between social media use and self-reported mental health of youth in Canada.

Conclusion

Mental health is a complex concept, which can be influenced by many individual and societal factors (CDC, 2020). With social media technologies immersed throughout daily life of most Canadian youth, this area of research inquiry warrants further exploration, especially in the adolescent or youth population where the mental health crisis is a growing epidemic across the province of Ontario and across Canada (CMHO, 2019). In completing and carrying out this proposed study, the research team endeavors to address these gaps in current literature and evidence with impacts on both health and societal levels.

References

- Centres for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). *Social Ecological Model*. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/publichealthissue/social-ecologicalmodel
- Children's Mental Health Ontario. (2019). *Facts and figures*. Retrieved from https://cmho.org/facts-figures/
- Children's Mental Health Ontario. (2020). *Kids Can't Wait*. Retrieved from https://cmho.org/wp-content/uploads/CMHO-Report-WaitTimes-2020.pdf
- Crone, E. A., & Konijn, E. A. (2018). Media use and brain development during adolescence. *Nature Communications*, 9(1). http://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-03126-x
- IBM Corp. Released 2019. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 26.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.
- McLeroy, K. R., Bibeau, D., Steckler, A., & Glanz, K. (1988). An ecological perspective on health promotion programs. *Health Education & Behavior*, 15(4), 351–377.
- Polit, D. & Beck, C. (2017). Nursing Research: Generating and Assessing Evidence for Nursing Practice (10th ed.). Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer.
- Primack, B. A., & Escobar- Viera, C. (2017). Social media as it interfaces with psychosocial development and mental illness in transitional age youth. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*. 26(2), 217-233. doi: 10.1016/j.chc.2016.12.0071056-4993/17/
- Research Data Technology Centre. (2008). *Advisory Council Minutes of Meeting*. Retrieved from http://rdc.uwo.ca/resources/docs/minutes/20080627-UWORDC- minutes.pdf

Richards, D., Caldwell, P. H. Y., & Go, H. (2015). Impact of social media on the health of children and young people. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, *51*(12), 1152–1157. http://doi.org/10.1111/jpc.13023

- StataCorp. (2019). *Stata Statistical Software: Release 16*. College Station, TX: StataCorp LLC.
- Statistics Canada. (2013). *General Social Survey 2013- Main Survey*. Retrieved from https://www.statcan.gc.ca/eng/statistical-programs/instrument/5024_Q1_V3

Statistics Canada. (2014). General Social Survey, 2013: Social Identity (Cycle 27).

- Statistics Canada. (2020a). *General Social Survey*. Retrieved from https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/
- Statistics Canada. (2020b). *Microdata Portal Access Application*. Retrieved from https://www.statcan.gc.ca/eng/microdata/data-centres/access
- Viner, R. M., Gireesh, A., Stiglic, N., Hudson, L. D., Goddings, A.-L., Ward, J. L., & Nicholls, D. E. (2019). Roles of cyberbullying, sleep, and physical activity in mediating the effects of social media use on mental health and wellbeing among young people in England: a secondary analysis of longitudinal data. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health*, *3*(10), 685–696. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(19)30186-5

Chapter Four

Implications

Discussion of Implications

The goal of this proposed study is to examine associations and relationships between social media use and mental health among youth users utilizing the General Social Survey (Statistics Canada, 2014). The study will also examine demographic variables and other personal factors which may or may not be predictors of self-reported mental health in youth. This proposed study utilizes the Social-Ecological Model as a theoretical framework (McLeroy et al., 1988). The implications of this potential study are also discussed briefly in this chapter.

Implications for Theory

The Social-Ecological Model (McLeroy et al., 1988) is a framework which examines an individual as a product of not only their individual choices and behaviours, but also their environment and those within it (CDC, 2020). At the individual level, selfperception and self-image are influential factors which have previously been noted in the literature to have an association with mental health and well-being (Richards et al., 2015). Factors such as gender and age may also play a significant role in these outcomes (Booth et al., 2018) which can be further explored in this potential study from an individual perspective, while factors such as having experienced discrimination and educational status may speak to the interpersonal, societal, and organizational levels (i.e., cultural and societal norms and expectations, perceptions of others within communities). In some instances, the use of social media can be found to be extremely positive, providing users with a sense of connectedness to each other online (Allen et al., 2014). Developing a stronger and well-informed theoretical model has the potential to make this information more readily available, and further reduce stigma related to mental health and attributing factors (Booth et al., 2018). A substantive understanding of these factors and implications on mental health from social media use can inform guidelines on social media use as no currently available framework links these factors for the youth population. This may also further impact resource allocation, education, and practice incorporating mental health into considerations for care. Utilizing the structure of the Social-Ecological Model as a framework, a robust theoretical model can be developed and utilized which can support work in variety of areas and contexts.

Implications for Practice

From a practice perspective, the proposed study presents potential implications worthy of deeper exploration. First, there are many opportunities for practitioners to optimize their use of social media in terms of offering care and increasing accessibility for youth. As described in the literature review, the use of certain social media technologies in mental health settings has been demonstrated to be supportive for patients and their care needs (Chan et al., 2017). Health providers can utilize their knowledge of social media in this way not only to promote healthy and responsible social media use amongst young people, but also to address mental health challenges in the moment and support youth to develop appropriate and effective coping strategies (Best et al., 2016).

Further, understanding the impact of social media use on youth in terms of mental health will be helpful toward the identification of specific interventions to best support this demographic (Best et al., 2016). By carrying out this proposed study, the identification of various relationships between sociodemographic and social media use variables upon mental health can assist in identifying new ways to support youth during this time period in their lives.

Implications for Future Research

As previously mentioned, the proposed research project described in this chapter was in progress prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, and indefinitely delayed by the provincial shutdown in mid-March 2020. Ideally, this research project could still be completed in the coming year if restrictions are lifted, as it is believed that this study would generate significant findings to inform practice and research. At the time of writing (April-May 2020), the author of this dissertation is hopeful that this research can be carried out in the coming year and published as a standalone peer-reviewed article.

Conclusion

The mental health crisis in the province of Ontario and nationally represents a greater need for both understanding and resource allocation to address this critical issue (CMHO, 2020). As a consequence of non-addressed health needs, over 50% of children and youth in Ontario state they have had a mental health concern they needed support for but could not access any (CMHO, 2019). As mental health challenges continue to rise among youth, social media use has also become more intertwined with activities of daily living of many Canadians. Future health systems will require forethought about the implications of social media use on their patients, but also how social media use can be optimized to create innovative deliveries of health care and other services (Reupert, 2017).

During the COVID-19 pandemic, concerns related to the spread of the virus have necessitated a reduction in face-to-face communication and gatherings, with significant increases in all forms of virtual communication, including the use of social media platforms (CDC, 2020c). While these measures were necessary to slow the spread of COVID-19, the effects of self-isolation upon individuals has generated many new and uncharted challenges in relation to the mental health and well-being of people (Ontario Ministry of Health, 2020; CDC, 2020b). Due to this recent global emergency, the completion of this proposed study is very timely, as understanding regarding the potential associations and relationships between social media use and mental health in youth populations is needed more than ever.

References

Allen, K. A., Ryan, T., Gray, D. L., McInerney, D. M., & Waters, L. (2014). Social media use and social connectedness in adolescents: The positives and the potential pitfalls. *Australian Educational and Developmental Psychologist*, *31*(1), 18–31.
https://doi.org/10.1017/edp.2014.2

Best, P., Manktelow, R., & Taylor, B. J. (2016). Social Work and Social Media: Online Help-Seeking and the Mental Well-Being of Adolescent Males. 46(1), 257–276. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcu130

Booth, R. G., Allen, B. N., Jenkyn, K. M. B., Li, L., & Shariff, S. Z. (2018). Youth mental health services utilization rates after a large-scale social media campaign: population-based interrupted time-series analysis. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*. 5(2), 1–15. http://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.2196/mental.8808

- Canadian Mental Health Association. (2015). *The Mental Health and Well-Being of Ontario Students: Detailed Ontario Student Drug Use and Health Survey*. Retrieved from http://www.camh.ca/en/research/news_and_publications
- Canadian Mental Health Association. (2019). *Child and youth mental health*. Retrieved from https://ontario.cmha.ca/mental-health/child-and-youth-mental/
- Canadian Mental Health Association (2020). *Fast facts about mental illness*. Retrieved from http://www.cmha.ca/media/fast-facts-about-mental-illness/
- Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. (2019). *Youth and mental health 101*. Retrieved from https://moodle8.camhx.ca/

- Centres for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020a). *Social Ecological Model*. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/publichealthissue/social-ecologicalmodel
- Centres for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020b). *COVID-19 daily stress and coping*. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/daily-lifecoping/managing-stress-anxiety.html
- Centres for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020c). *COVID-19 and social distancing*. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/prevent-gettingsick/social-distancing.html
- Chaffey, D. (2020). *Global social media research summary 2020*. Retrieved from https://www.smartinsights.com/social-media-marketing/social-media-strategy/new-global-social-media-research/
- Chan, M., Li, T. M. H., Law, Y. W., Wong, P. W. C., Chau, M., Cheng, C., ... Yip, P. S. F.
 (2017). Engagement of vulnerable youths using internet platforms. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(12), 1–17. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0189023
- Children's Mental Health Ontario. (2019). *Facts and figures*. Retrieved from https://cmho.org/facts-figures/
- Children's Mental Health Ontario. (2020). *Kids Can't Wait*. Retrieved from https://cmho.org/wp-content/uploads/CMHO-Report-WaitTimes-2020.pdf
- Forchuk, C., Reiss, J., Eichstedt, J., Singh, D., Collins, K., Rudnick, A., ... Fisman, S.
 (2016). The youth-mental health engagement network: an exploratory pilot study of a smartphone and computer-based personal health record for youth experiencing depressive symptoms. *International Journal of Mental Health*, 45(3), 205–222.

- Gandhi, S., Chiu, M., Lam, K., Cairney, J. C., Guttmann, A., & Kurdyak, P. (2016). Mental health service use among children and youth in Ontario: Population-based trends over time. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 61(2), 119–124. http://doi.org/10.1177/0706743715621254
- Gill, P. J., et al. (2017). Emergency department as a first contact for mental health problems in children and youth. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 56(6), 475- 482.
- Government of Ontario. (2020). *Emergency Information*. Retrieved from https://www.ontario.ca/page/emergency-information
- Halsall, T., Garinger, C., & Forneris, T. (2014). mindyourmind: An overview and evaluation of a web-facilitated mental health program that applies empowerment strategies for youth. *Journal of Consumer Health on the Internet*, *18*(4), 337–356.
 http://doi.org/10.1080/15398285.2014.952998
- Lewis, S. P., Heath, N. L., Michal, N. J., & Duggan, J. M. (2012). Non-suicidal self-injury, youth, and the Internet: What mental health professionals need to know. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, 6(1), 13. http://doi.org/10.1186/1753-2000-6-13
- Livingston, J.D., Cianfrone, M., Korf-Uzan, K. et al. (2014). Another time point, a different story: One year effects of a social media intervention on the attitudes of young people towards mental health issues. *Social Psychiatry & Psychiatric Epidemiology*. 49, 985-990. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-013-0815-7

McBride, D. L. (2011). Risks and benefits of social media for children and adolescents.
 Journal of Pediatric Nursing, 26(5), 498–499.
 http://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedn.2011.05.001

McLeroy, K. R., Bibeau, D., Steckler, A., & Glanz, K. (1988). An ecological perspective on health promotion programs. *Health Education & Behavior*, 15(4), 351–377.

Ontario Ministry of Health. (2020). COVID-19 fact sheet: Resources for Ontarians experiencing mental health and addictions issues during the pandemic. Retrieved from

http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/coronavirus/docs/resourc es_ontarians_experiencing_mha.pdf

- Polit, D. & Beck, C. (2017). Nursing Research: Generating and Assessing Evidence for Nursing Practice (10th ed.). Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer.
- Primack, B. A., & Escobar-Viera, C. (2017). Social media as it interfaces with psychosocial development and mental illness in transitional age youth. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*. 26(2), 217-233. doi:

10.1016/j.chc.2016.12.0071056-4993/17/

Research Data Centre UWO. (2020). Data Access. Retrieved from https://rdc.uwo.ca

Research Data Technology Centre. (2008). *Advisory Council Minutes of Meeting*. Retrieved from http://rdc.uwo.ca/resources/docs/minutes/20080627-UWORDC- minutes.pdf

Reupert, A. (2017) A socio-ecological framework for mental health and well-being.

Advances in Mental Health, 15(2), 105-107, doi: 10.1080/18387357.2017.1342902

Richards, D., Caldwell, P. H. Y., & Go, H. (2015). Impact of social media on the health of children and young people. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, 51(12), 1152– 1157. http://doi.org/10.1111/jpc.13023

Statistics Canada. (2014). General Social Survey, 2013: Social Identity (Cycle 27).

Appendix A

Search Strategy for PubMed, CINAHL, PsycINFO & Scopus:

MeSH terms as well as keywords were utilized in this review (respective of the search database itself). Boolean operators were used between the search terms (AND) below:

- 1) "social media" OR "digital media"
- 2) "youth" OR "adolescent" OR "young adult"
- 3) "mental health" OR "mental well-being"

The results of the search were as follows:

18 total articles from the databases (PubMed 7; CINAHL 2; PsycINFO 4; Scopus 5). Two additional articles were found from one identified article in the PubMed database which was eligible for the review. Additionally, one of the articles (found in the initial search) was known to the author to be of significance to the review due to prior background knowledge, which was able to be utilized to understand the available literature when conducting the scoping review.

Appendix B



Appendix C

Author	Rationale for Exclusion from Review
Booth, Allen, Jenkyn, Li & Shariff (2018)	INCLUDED
Brailovskaia & Margraf (2018)	INCLUDED
Chan et al. (2017)	INCLUDED
Crone & Konijn (2018)	No measure/ description of mental health
	(perceived or measured)
Forchuk et al. (2016)	No measure of social media use/ Social media
	and technology not well defined
Gritton, Rushing, Stephens, Kerr, & Moreno (2016)	No measure/ description of "concerning social media"
	No measure/ description of mental health
	(perceived or measured)
Halsall, Garinger & Forneris (2014)	No discussion of social media use specifically
Holland, Vivolo-Kantor, Logan & Leemis	INCLUDED
(2017)	
Gandhi, Chiu, Lam, Cairney, Guttmann, & Kurdyak (2016)	No measure of social media use
Khodarahami & Fathi (2017)	No measure/ description of mental health
	(perceived or measure)
Livingston et al. (2014)	No measure of social media use
McBride (2011)	No measure of social media use
	No measure/ description of mental health
	(perceived or measured)
Knox, Collings & Nelson (2016)	No measure/ description of mental health
	(perceived or measured)
Pontes (2017)	INCLUDED
Powers (2012)	No measure of social media use
Primack, & Escobar- Viera (2017)	No measure/ description of mental health
	(perceived or measured)
Reid Chassiakos, Radesky, Christakis,	No specific discussion of mental health
Moreno, & Cross (2016)	(perceived or measured)
Richards, Caldwell, & Go (2015)	Review of previous literature
Romer, Bagdasarov, & More (2013)	INCLUDED
Schmitt, Sims-Giddens, & Booth (2012)	No measure/ description of mental health
	(perceived or measured)

Appendix D



Chantal E. Singh

FILE: CISS-RDC-1034374

Dear Chantal E. Singh:

Thank you for submitting an application to the CISS-Access to the RDC Program, a joint initiative between Statistics Canada, the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council and the Canadian Institutes of Health Research. The RDC-Access Granting Committee has now completed the review of your project proposal and has approved it. Before you are granted access to the RDC to begin your project proposal you will need to complete the following steps (http://www.statcan.gc.ca/rdc-cdr/process-eng.htm):

- 1) Complete the security screening process
- 2) Sign the Oath of Office and Secrecy
- 3) Participate in an RDC Orientation session
- 4) Sign a Microdata Research Contract with Statistics Canada.

Your RDC analyst can be found at the centre listed on the following web page: <u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca/rdc-cdr/network-reseau-eng.htm</u>.

You have 1 year from the date of approval of your project proposal in order to initiate access to the RDC. If you are unable to commence your project proposal within the first 12 months after your project proposal has been approved for RDC access, please contact the RDC analyst to make special arrangements. If you have not contacted your RDC analyst within the first 12 months after your project proposal has been approved, you will need to re-apply to SSHRC in order to re-gain access to the RDC.

The reviews of the project proposal were based on SSHRC peer review procedures. Each project proposal was evaluated on the basis of four main criteria: scientific merit and viability of the proposed research; the viability of the methods to be applied given the data on which the analysis will be performed; a demonstrated need for access to detailed micro data; and, the expertise and ability of the researchers to carry out the work.

.../2



Social Sciences and Humanities Conseil Research Council of Canada sciences

Conseil de recherches en sciences humaines du Canada

www.sshrc-crsh.gc.ca

Canadä

CURRICULUM VITAE

CHANTAL E SINGH

Western University. London,	Education: ON, Canada 2016-2020 MScN (Expected Completion)
	Western University. London, ON, Canada 2012-2016 BScN (Dean's Honour Roll)
Awards:	Evelyn Campbell Memorial Bursary-Registered Nurses Foundation of Ontario (RNFOO) (2019)
	Irene E. Nordwich Foundation Award (2017)
	Linda Frances Lees Award (Graduation Award)- Western University (2016)
	Bud & Joanne Taylor Clinical Education Bursary- Western University (2015)
Professional Experience:	Telehealth Ontario Registered Nurse, 2020 to Present
	Western University, London, ON Part-Time Lecturer, 2018-2020
	LHSC Children's Hospital, London, ON Nurse-Paediatric Critical Care Unit, 2016-Present
	South West CCAC/ LHIN, London, ON Care Coordinator, 2016 to 2018
	Western University, London, ON Research & Teaching Assistant, 2016- 2018
	Western University, London, ON Teaching Assistant, 2016
	LHSC Children's Hospital, London, ON Research Assistant-Haematology/ Oncology 2014-2016
	London Health Sciences Centre & St. Joseph's Healthcare London, London ON HUGO Implementation Team, 2014

Professional Memberships:	Paediatric Nurses Interest Group (PedNIG) Of RNAO – Elected President
	Registered Nurses Association of Ontario College of Nurses of Ontario Canadian Association of Paediatric Nurses
Invited Presentations:	Western University Health Sciences Graduate Student Conference, Feb 2020, London ON
	Children's Healthcare Canada Conference December 2019, Ottawa ON
	Paediatric Nursing Update Symposium November 2019, Toronto ON
	Western University Child Health Symposium May 2019, London ON
	Nursing Leadership Network Conference March 2018, Toronto ON
	Great Lakes Biennial Nursing Conference November 2016, Windsor ON
	Canadian Nursing Informatics Association May 2015, Toronto ON

PUBLICATIONS

Booth, R. G., Sinclair, B., Strudwick, G., Brennan, L., Morgan, L., Collings, S., Johnston, J., Loggie, B., Tong J., & <u>Singh, C</u>. (2017). Deconstructing clinical workflow: Identifying teaching-learning principles for barcode electronic medication administration with nursing students. *Nurse Educator*.

Sey, M., et. al (2017). KODA score: an updated and validated bowel preparation scale for patients undergoing small bowel capsule endoscopy". *Endoscopy International Open* (Accepted-In Publication)

Sey, M., et. al (2017). External Validation of the Park's Score for Capsule Endoscopy Bowel Preparation study. (*In Process of Submission by M. Algeeli, Fall 2017*)